In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

 \mathbf{v} .

RICHARD TOM,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S202107



First Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. A124765 San Mateo County Superior Court, Case No. SC064912 The Honorable H. James Ellis, Judge

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 25 2012

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does the use of a defendant's postarrest, pre-*Miranda* silence to prove consciousness of guilt violate the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination when that silence is neither compelled nor induced by governmental action?
- 2. Is the improper admission of postarrest silence prejudicial when that silence was nothing more than a continuation of otherwise admissible prearrest silence?

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal held appellant's postarrest, pre-*Miranda* silence was constitutionally protected and could not be used in the prosecution's case-in-chief. Custody alone triggered Fifth Amendment protection, according to that court. That is incorrect. The Fifth Amendment guards against governmental compulsion, not mere custodial silence. *Miranda* extends the reach of the Fifth Amendment beyond actual compulsion, but requires custodial interrogation in lieu of compulsion. Custody alone does not trigger *Miranda*'s protections. Consequently, silence responsive neither to compulsion nor to interrogation is not constitutionally protected.

At the very least, protected silence must be an assertion of the constitutional privilege induced by governmental action. Appellant's pre-*Miranda* silence was not a product of compulsion, a response to custodial interrogation, or an assertion of the privilege. Appellant was not even silent, but instead spoke freely to a friend, paramedics, and police officers, just not about his victims. That was not constitutionally protected silence, and the prosecution did not err in eliciting that fact in its case-in-chief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Overview

On the evening of February 19, 2007, appellant Richard Tom drove his Mercedes nearly twice the speed limit and broadsided a Nissan sedan driven by Loraine Wong. Ms. Wong's daughters, Kendall and Sydney, ages 10 and 8 respectively, were in the rear passenger seats. The main force of the impact was near Sydney, who was belted into a booster seat. Sydney died. Kendall survived, but sustained serious injuries. (Typed Opn. at p. 1.)

B. The Fatal Crash

In the hours preceding the crash, appellant was entertaining a long-time friend and visitor from Nevada, 72-year-old retired police officer Peter Gamino. (5 RT 927-929; 3 CT 849.) About 5:30 or 6:00 p.m., appellant woke Mr. Gamino from a nap, gave him a vodka tonic cocktail, and began made dinner. Appellant drank a vodka tonic as he cooked. (5 RT 933-935.) Mr. Gamino prepared their second round of drinks, then they ate. (5 RT 935-936.)

Around 7:30 p.m., appellant drove them to his son's house to pick up his son's car. (5 RT 936-937.) Returning home, appellant had Mr. Gamino drive his son's black Camry, while appellant drove his silver Mercedes. (4 RT 675; 5 RT 937.) Mr. Gamino followed appellant, driving the speed limit. (5 RT 937-938.) Mr. Gamino was driving around 40 miles per hour when he turned north onto Woodside Road, but appellant was already well ahead, about 200 yards up the road. (5 RT 939-941; 3 CT 856-857.)

About 8:15 p.m., Lorraine Wong left home with her daughters in the backseat of her Nissan Maxima. (3 RT 482, 487, 491.) They were going to visit Ms. Wong's sister who just had a baby. (3 RT 485, 494.) As Ms. Wong drove up Santa Clara Avenue toward Woodside, she used her cell

phone to let her sister know they were on their way. (3 RT 493, 516-520.) Ms. Wong had completed her call when she reached the intersection of Santa Clara Avenue and Woodside Road, but was still holding the phone in her hand. (3 RT 529.) She stopped at the stop sign, looked both ways, then inched forward for a better view, in preparation to turn left (south) on Woodside Road. (3 RT 495-497.) Ms. Wong stopped again at the top of the crosswalk where she could look down Woodside Road without obstruction. (3 RT 497-498.) She looked left, right, then left again before starting her turn. She had her lights and turn signal on, and did not see anyone approaching. (3 RT 499.)

Woodside Road is a divided road with two lanes in each direction, an island in the middle, and a posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour. (3 RT 378, 384.) Ms. Wong drove across Woodside Road around 15 miles per hour to make her left turn. Halfway across the northbound lanes, she "saw a big flash of light" and was struck by appellant's speeding Mercedes on the driver's side by the back door. (3 RT 386, 499.) Before the flash, Wong heard no sounds of a car braking, or horn honking. She did not see headlights to her left and never saw appellant's car. (3 RT 507, 525, 534.)

When her car came to rest, Ms. Wong checked her daughters, who were both unconscious and bleeding from cuts on their faces. (3 RT 501.) Kendall soon regained consciousness, but Sydney never did. (3 RT 501.) Medical personnel soon arrived. Sydney was flown to Stanford Hospital, but was pronounced dead at 8:53 p.m. (3 RT 504; 4 RT 769.) She died from multiple blunt trauma injuries, including a severely damaged spleen and liver resulting in internal bleeding, brain hemorrhage, and a pelvic fracture. (4 RT 770-775.) Kendall suffered a broken arm, a neck injury requiring a brace, and a forehead wound requiring 30 stitches. (3 RT 504-505.) Ms. Wong suffered a cracked rib and a broken finger. (3 RT 506, 535-536.)

Mr. Gamino was trailing appellant by a substantial distance on Woodside Road and only saw a cloud of dust and dirt suddenly fly up from the road well in front of him. (5 RT 943.) He drove past the intersection of Woodside Road and Santa Clara Avenue, made a U-turn at the next intersection and stopped near appellant's Mercedes, which had come to rest in the southbound lanes of Woodside Road. (5 RT 943-944.) Mr. Gamino approached appellant, who sat in his damaged Mercedes. Mr. Gamino asked if he was all right; appellant responded that "he didn't even see it." (5 RT 945.) Mr. Gamino returned to his car when the paramedics arrived. (5 RT 945.)

Officers and medical crews were dispatched at 8:20 p.m., shortly after the collision. (3 RT 376.) Redwood City Police Officers Russell Felker and Josh Price arrived first, followed shortly by medical personnel. (4 RT 674.) After assessing the scene, Officer Felker directed Officer Price to contact appellant. (4 RT 675.)

Appellant was seated in his Mercedes, being examined by two paramedics who had also just arrived. (4 RT 677.) One paramedic was seated directly behind appellant, making sure his neck was stable, while the other was in the front passenger seat checking appellant's condition. (4 RT 677.) Officer Price had a brief conversation with appellant, then left to confer with Sergeant Alan Bailey of the Redwood City Police Department, who had just arrived at the scene to oversee the investigation. (3 RT 376, 401; 4 RT 678.) Officer Price did not notice any signs of intoxication in his encounter with appellant. (4 RT 678.)

Sergeant Bailey, a 30-year veteran with expertise in over a thousand traffic collision investigations, noted the accident scene was quite chaotic, with substantial areas to cordon off, numerous bystanders to question as potential witnesses, officers from overlapping law enforcement

jurisdictions to coordinate, and medical personnel to assist. (3 RT 368-373, 378, 382, 386-387, 400, 408-409, 430-432.)

The sergeant walked through the scene and determined from gouge marks in the asphalt that the collision occurred close to the center of Woodside Road's northbound lanes, at its intersection with Santa Clara Avenue. (3 RT 391-392.) The debris field was very large, and the distance between the two cars at rest was "incredible." (3 RT 383.) Appellant's Mercedes had major front end damage, a cracked windshield, broken driver's side mirror and two flat tires. (3 RT 381-382.) The Nissan Maxima had a direct hit to the rear passenger door area. The rear axle was broken; the rear quarter panel and rear end of the car was destroyed; and the passenger window and rear window were shattered. (3 RT 386.) Sergeant Bailey concluded, based on his observations of the collision scene, the damage, and the final resting spots of the cars, that appellant was driving "extremely fast"—"not even close" to the posted 35 m.p.h. speed limit. (3 RT 396-397.)

Sergeant Bailey had Officer Price check appellant again and inquire of the paramedics about any signs of intoxication while treating appellant. (3 RT 433.) Officer Price returned to appellant's car, where appellant was already walking around. The paramedics were asking appellant to go to the hospital for a more thorough examination. (4 RT 679.) Appellant refused, explaining his insurance would not cover the costs. The paramedics had appellant sign a form indicating his decision was made against their advice. (4 RT 679.) Officer Price noticed that appellant was limping slightly, but otherwise appeared okay. His demeanor was calm. (4 RT 679-680.) By this time, appellant's girlfriend, Winnie Jiang, had arrived and was with him. (3 RT 475; 4 RT 680; 5 RT 945.)

Officer Price again spoke with appellant and then consulted the paramedics, who had not noticed any odor of alcohol. (4 RT 715, 724-

725.) Officer Price interviewed several bystanders to determine if they had witnessed the crash. (4 RT 680-681.) This process took roughly 20 minutes, after which he reported back to Sergeant Bailey. (4 RT 680, 714.)

Within 40 to 45 minutes of his arrival, Sergeant Bailey learned appellant was now sitting in a black Toyota Camry that was parked within the cordoned-off area under investigation. (3 RT 402-403; 4 RT 682.) Sergeant Bailey directed Officer Price to find out the connection between appellant and the driver of the Camry. (4 RT 404.)

Appellant and his girlfriend had been sitting in the Camry for about 15 minutes before Officer Price came over. (5 RT 945-946.) Mr. Gamino was in the driver's seat; appellant was in the front passenger seat; and Ms. Jiang was in the back. (4 RT 683.) Officer Price had a brief conversation with Mr. Gamino. (4 RT 683.) During that conversation, appellant interjected that he only lived a block away and asked if he could walk home. (4 RT 684.) Officer Price told him no, the investigation was ongoing and they needed him to remain at the scene. (4 RT 685.) Officer Price continued to go back and forth between Sergeant Bailey and appellant in order to keep Sergeant Bailey apprised of any information he learned from appellant. (4 RT 685.)

At some point after appellant moved to the Camry, he complained to Officer Price that his ankle hurt and asked for an ice pack. Officer Price found a paramedic, who obtained an ice pack for appellant. (4 RT 686.)

Subsequently, Sergeant Bailey asked Officer Price to see if appellant would go to the stationhouse for a voluntary blood draw. (3 RT 449-450; 4 RT 687-688.) Irritated by the request to go to the station, appellant asked if a blood draw could be done at the scene. (4 RT 688-689, 727.) Officer Price explained to him that it was against the policy of the paramedics to conduct a blood draw outside a controlled environment. Appellant agreed to accompany the officers to the station for the blood draw. (4 RT 689,

729.) The officers asked appellant to sit in the back of Officer Felker's patrol car. He was not formally arrested or placed in handcuffs, and he was accompanied in the patrol car by his girlfriend Ms. Jiang. (3 RT 406; 4 RT 687-690.)¹

Appellant and Ms. Jiang waited in a stationhouse interview room for a paramedic to arrive for the blood draw. When the paramedic arrived, he informed the police he could not perform a blood draw unless appellant was actually under arrest. (3 RT 412-413, 458-459; 4 RT 490-493.) Officer Price and Sergeant Bailey asked appellant if he would mind going to the hospital for a voluntary blood draw. (3 RT 413, 462-464; 4 RT 693-694.) When appellant asked if he could refuse, the officers merely encouraged him to volunteer by telling him it would be in his interest to provide a blood sample to rule out the presence of drugs or alcohol. (3 RT 413, 462-466; 4 RT 693-695.)

Appellant agreed, but first asked to use the restroom. Sergeant Bailey accompanied appellant into the bathroom. Appellant asked Sergeant Bailey for an aspirin for his ankle pain, but Sergeant Bailey said he could not provide medications. (3 RT 414-416.) In the close confines of the bathroom, Sergeant Bailey noticed alcohol on appellant's breath and that appellant's eyes were bloodshot and glassy. (3 RT 418-420.) When appellant returned to the interview room, Officers Price and Gomez both noted the smell of alcohol. (4 RT 750, 755-756.) Officer Price administered three field sobriety tests on appellant, the horizontal gaze nystagmus test, the standing Romburg test, and the finger to nose test. (4 RT 700-704.) Based on the results of those tests, Officer Price concluded

¹ CAD logs reflect that appellant was seated in the patrol car at 9:30 p.m. Officer Felker left the scene with appellant at 9:48 p.m. They arrived at the station at 9:57 p.m. (3 RT 405-408.)

appellant was under the influence at the time of the accident and placed him under arrest. (4 RT 705.) A paramedic was called and appellant's blood was drawn at 11:13 p.m. (4 RT 667.) Appellant's blood alcohol concentration (BAC) was .04 percent. (4 RT 778-779.)

Officer Price testified at trial that during the time he had contact with appellant, appellant never asked about the condition of the occupants of the Nissan. (4 RT 685, 707.)

C. Crime Scene Investigation and Expert Testimony

Around the time appellant went to the police station, Officer Janine O'Gorman, a 10-year veteran and expert in collision investigations, arrived to document and evaluate the crash scene. (3 RT 540-543.) She determined the point of impact based on gouges in the pavement at the intersection of Santa Clara Avenue and Woodside Road. (3 RT 551.) From the point of impact, the Mercedes traveled 239.9 feet leaving tire friction marks or yaw marks along the roadway as it traveled in a direction that was not aligned with the tires' direction of spin. (3 RT 551-554.) The Mercedes started in the northbound lanes of Woodside Road before the collision, hit the Nissan, skidded across the lanes to the center island, jumped the island into the southbound lanes, then rotated back toward the island where it came to rest. (3 RT 556-557.) The Mercedes engine was demolished, and the front tires were turned, causing the tires to be in a locked skid. (3 RT 563, 565, 571.) The Nissan traveled 60 feet from the point of collision, rotating 360 degrees, spraying glass in a circular pattern, and strewing debris from the interior of the car, including Sydney's booster seat stripped of the armrests that held the seatbelt in place, across the roadway. (3 RT 557-559.)

Officer O'Gorman testified that on that stretch of Woodside Road, cars often exceed the 35 m.p.h. speed limit, typically to 40 m.p.h. (4 RT 603-604.) A traffic engineering study determined the critical speed, i.e., the

point where the speed is unsafe for the conditions, was 39.7 m.p.h. (4 RT 650.) She opined that driving 50 m.p.h. on Woodside Road was unsafe for the conditions. (4 RT 629.) A driver heading north on Woodside Road ordinarily has the right of way over a driver turning left onto Woodside Road from Santa Clara Avenue. Driving 20 miles per hour over the posted speed limit, however, would result in the Woodside Road driver losing his right of way because of the unsafe speed. (4 RT 629.) Officer O'Gorman concluded that appellant's excessive speed was the primary factor causing the collision. (4 RT 652.)

San Jose Police Officer Jincy Pace is an expert in collision reconstruction. (5 RT 790-794.) She examined the Mercedes and the Nissan and forensically mapped the crush depth of damage to the cars. She also reviewed the measurements taken by Officer O'Gorman at the scene. (5 RT 794-795.) Using this data, she reconstructed the accident. (5 RT 797-800.) She determined the path of the Mercedes from the friction marks and fluid trail left as it skidded across the roadway and leapt the island. (5 RT 804-812.)

The drag factor for a car in a full skid on dry pavement is between .65 and .85. A rotating car would experience brief periods where the wheels would be aligned with the direction of travel, resulting in a lower rolling drag factor. Rather than assigning varying drag factors for different parts of the skid, Officer Pace elected to use an artificially low (which she described as "ludicrously low") drag factor of .3, which would more than encompass any fluctuation due to rotation or fluid leaking onto the roadway and tires. (5 RT 815-817, 848, 894.) Using that artificially low drag factor, the postcollision distance traveled by the Mercedes, the near perpendicular angle of the two cars at collision, and the angle of departure for the cars,

Officer Pace calculated appellant's postcollision speed as 47 m.p.h. (5 RT 806-817.)² From that postcollision speed, Officer Pace determined that appellant was traveling at least 67 m.p.h. when he hit Ms. Wong's Nissan. (5 RT 797, 819, 840.) The Nissan had a precollision speed of 12 m.p.h. when it was broadsided, and it had a postcollision speed of 29 m.p.h., when pushed into a fast spin by the Mercedes. (5 RT 818-820.) The damage to the vehicles was consistent with the Mercedes hitting the Nissan at 67 m.p.h. (5 RT 821.)

Officer Pace examined the collision reconstruction analysis of defense expert Chris Kauderer and vigorously disagreed with his conclusions regarding speed. (5 RT 831, 885.) Mr. Kauderer concluded that the postcollision speed of the Mercedes was 27 to 29 m.p.h. (5 RT 897.) For the Mercedes to have traveled postcollision as far as it did at 27 to 29 m.p.h. would require a drag factor of merely .09 to .11, lower than that for sliding across ice. (5 RT 897.)

Officer Pace opined that by traveling 67 m.p.h. on Woodside Road, appellant forfeited his right of way. Ms. Wong could reasonably assume that the Mercedes was obeying the law by driving a reasonable speed, and therefore her turn did not pose a risk to his car when it was 300 to 400 feet from the intersection. (5 RT 900-901.)

Toxicologist Carlos Jiron testified that, if appellant stopped drinking sometime before the crash at 8:20 p.m., and his BAC was .04 percent at 11:13 p.m., then assuming a standard burn off rate of .02 percent per hour, his BAC at the time of the crash was approximately .10 percent. (5 RT 1002, 1019-1024; 6 RT 1034-1035.)

² A more realistic drag factor like .65 results in a postcollision speed of 69 m.p.h. (5 RT 817.)

D. Defense Experts

Seven months after the collision, Ken Boots mapped the relevant distances and gouge marks, but could not map friction marks, which were no longer present at the scene. (5 RT 1166, 1173, 1196-1198.) He examined the exterior of the two cars and forensically mapped the crush depth of the collision points. (5 RT 1179.) Mr. Boots opined that a driver on Woodside Road would maintain the right of way regardless of excessive speed. He asserted a driver only loses right of way by voluntarily relinquishing it. (6 RT 1209.)

Christopher Kauderer testified as appellant's expert in collision reconstruction. (7 RT 1370.) Mr. Kauderer decided that determining a drag factor for the Mercedes would be too complicated given the direction changes, possible fluid spill on the roadway, and potential for driver input. (7 RT 1453-1454; 8 RT 1498-1500.) Mr. Kauderer came up with several figures similar to those calculated by Officer Pace, including the drag factors and postcollision speed and distance for the Nissan. (7 RT 1456; 8 RT 1506-1508 1514.) However, rather than assign a drag factor for the Mercedes, he used a different method of calculating its postcollision speed. He assumed that the Mercedes and the Nissan reached a common velocity during the collision, and that the Mercedes must therefore have left the collision traveling at 27 to 29 m.p.h., the same speed as the Nissan. (8 RT 1501-1502.) This assumption was the only significant difference between his and Officer Pace's analysis. On this assumption, Mr. Kauderer concluded that appellant's precollision speed was 49 to 52 m.p.h. rather than 67 m.p.h. as calculated by Officer Pace. (8 RT 1503, 1507, 1516.) He disagreed with the officers who opined that the distance the Mercedes traveled, the size of the debris field, and the amount of damage reflected a higher speed. (8 RT 1519.) He opined that Ms. Wong caused the accident

by pulling out in front of appellant who did not have enough time to react. (8 RT 1543, 1546, 1559-1560.)

On cross-examination, Mr. Kauderer said he could not assign a drag factor for the Mercedes because of the possibility appellant accelerated after the crash, which would allow the Mercedes to achieve the total distance it traveled. (8 RT 1567.) Using a standard wet asphalt drag coefficient of .4 to .6, with the front tire turned to the right, in the absence of any postcollision driver acceleration, his formula resulted in a precollision speed of 60 to 70 m.p.h. (8 RT 1580-1582.)

Kenneth Mark testified as an expert in forensic toxicology. He opined that using a standard alcohol elimination rate of .02 percent per hour was insufficiently precise to determine BAC at the time of the crash. The actual elimination rate can vary in individuals from .01 percent to .028 percent per hour. Using the former number, appellant's BAC could have been as low as .07 percent at the time of the crash. (7 RT 1316-1337, 1332-1333.) He opined that, if appellant's BAC was .10 percent at the time of the crash, he would have displayed more objective signs of intoxication, such as slurred speech and an unsteady gait. (7 RT 1336-1337.)

E. Rebuttal Expert

The prosecution called San Jose Police Officer David Johnson, a long-time expert in collision reconstruction, in rebuttal. (8 RT 1609-1615.)

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