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

Additionally, because Appellant was in custody in the police vehicle,

the police could not expressly *question* him without advising him of his *Miranda* rights. (*Rhode Island v. Innis* (1980) 446 U.S. 291, 301; *People v. Gamache* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 347, 387-388.) Yet, the police did not advise Appellant of his *Miranda* rights before asking whether he would agree to a give a blood test, go to the station for a test, ¹² or go to the hospital for a test. (4RT 693-695, 728-729; *see* ROB 43.)¹³ Thus, Appellant's responses to the police questions were plainly admitted in violation of his *Miranda* rights, a separate federal constitutional error.

III. GIVEN THE WEAKNESS OF THE STATE'S ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE, AND THE MULTIPLE INSTANCES OF MISCONDUCT, THE ERROR CANNOT BE HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Finally, the state contends that the constitutional error in this case was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Attorney General's argument is remarkable in a case in which the trial prosecutor emphasized the improper evidence in argument to obtain a conviction, and where the admissible evidence objectively favored acquittal. Plainly, the constitutional errors were not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The implied consent law (Veh. Code, § 23612, subd. (a)(1)(A)) does not apply because the police had not arrested Appellant for an alcohol related offense.

Whether Price told Appellant he had to go to the station for a blood test, or asked him to do so, as the Attorney General argues (4RT 726-729; ROB 43), it was at least the functional equivalent of interrogation. (See Innis, 446 U.S. at p. 301; Gamache, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 387-388.)

Although it would be impossible not to feel immense sympathy for Lorraine Wong, whose child was killed in this tragic collision, a dispassionate view of the record favored acquittal. The evidence of Appellant's guilt was at best in "equipoise," as the Court of Appeal found. (Typed Opn. at p. 27.) While Appellant had consumed an amount of alcohol that was below the legal limit, and was exceeding the posted speed limit, the expert testimony regarding speed was hotly disputed, and the police conceded that, despite a posted speed limit of 35 mph, speeds up to 50 mph were not considered so unsafe as to warrant a speeding ticket on this major thoroughfare. Further, as the Attorney General argued below, "the testimony of Peter Gamino supported an inference that [Appellant] was traveling at about [the posted speed limit of 35 miles-per-hour]." (Habeas Opposition at p. 42, citing 5RT 940-941, 974.)

By contrast, Wong was stopped at a stop sign on a small street and was required by law to yield to Appellant's vehicle, which had the right-of-way on the four-lane thoroughfare (Veh. Code, § 21802a); yet, Wong entered the intersection while concluding a cell-phone conversation without seeing Appellant's vehicle. Wong had no explanation for how she failed to see Appellant's vehicle. (3RT 376-380, 491-500.) Her testimony that she looked both ways before entering the intersection, without seeing Appellant, was conclusively disproven by testimony that Appellant's

vehicle was visible to her for at least 17 seconds before the collision, by Wong's prior statement that she entered the intersection looking away from Appellant's vehicle, and by Wong's concession that she was ending a cell-phone call and steering with her one free hand as she entered the intersection. (3RT 527-531, 4RT 638-640, 5RT 880-881.) All experts agreed that cell-phone use impairs driving ability even more than being intoxicated. (8RT 1543-48, 1652; *see People v. Nelson* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 1083, 1101-1102 [describing safety concerns that caused Legislature to subsequently pass Veh. Code, § 23123 prohibiting cell-phone use while driving].)

The testimony regarding speed, upon which the Attorney General now relies, was hotly contested. Moreover, the prosecution experts' testimony was undermined when, after trial, it was discovered that the accelerator pedal of Appellant's car was bent and twisted to the right which indicated that Appellant had his foot on the accelerator because Wong did not leave him enough time to brake, or because he mistakenly stepped on the accelerator instead of the brake; Appellant's post-impact acceleration wholly discredited the state's expert calculation of speed which assumed no such post-impact driver input, and supported the defense expert testimony. (5CT 1489-90.) The state did not contest Kauderer's opinion regarding the bent accelerator pedal in the trial court.

Rather, the convictions were largely due to the numerous and substantial constitutional errors, which not only prevented substantial evidence of innocence from being heard, but prejudicially urged the jury to convict based upon impermissible arguments: the argument that Appellant's silence and explicit invocations and inquiries about his constitutional rights were proof he was guilty; the false argument that there was "absolutely no evidence that the defendant had his headlights on" (RT 1901-02) when the prosecutor well-knew from multiple sources that the headlights were on; and the improper pleas to jurors to base a conviction on sympathy for the suffering of the mother of the child killed in this tragic collision, even if one of the elements of the offense was not proven.¹⁴

As the Court of Appeal found, "[t]he evidence against defendant in this case . . . was essentially in equipoise, and the prosecutor placed great emphasis upon the erroneously admitted evidence in closing argument."

(Typed Opn. at p. 27.) Indeed, the evidence objectively favored acquittal. Thus, the state cannot meet its heavy burden of demonstrating that the

Given the reversal on the improper arguments regarding silence, the Court of Appeal declined to resolve other claims of prosecutorial misconduct. (Typed Opn. at pp. 29, 32.) They are addressed here to demonstrate that, at minimum, the cumulative prejudicial effect of multiple instances of misconduct requires reversal (*People v. Hill* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 844-847), and that the convictions were not based upon evidence of guilt.

v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 23-24; see People v. Neal (2003) 31 Cal.4th 63, 86 [state has burden of showing that the verdict "was surely unattributable to the error"].)

In fact, the Supreme Court's decision in *Chapman* is controlling. In Chapman, the prosecutor made improper comments on the defendant's silence. The Court noted that the prosecutors arguments, like those in this case, argued that the defendants, "by their silence. . . had served as irrefutable witnesses against themselves." (Id. at p. 25.) Although the Court noted that the state had "presented a reasonably strong circumstantial web of evidence against petitioners," "it was also a case in which, absent the constitutionally forbidden comments, honest, fair-minded jurors might very well have brought in not-guilty verdicts." (Id. at pp. 25-26 [internal quotation omitted].) The Court held that the state had not demonstrated harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt; "the machine-gun repetition of a denial of constitutional rights, designed and calculated to make petitioners' version of the evidence worthless" cannot be considered harmless. (Id. at p. 26.)

The state's argument for harmlessness is even less convincing in this case, where the evidence of guilt was weak and objectively favored acquittal. Because proper argument from admissible evidence did not prove

guilt, the prosecutor resorted to multiple improper arguments from inadmissible evidence. The prosecutor repeatedly used Appellant's silence about the occupants of the other vehicle, not only to suggest "consciousness of guilt," but also to allege one critical element the evidence could not prove-that Appellant had a "conscious indifference or 'I don't care' attitude" regarding the consequences of his actions to other people. (5CT 1401 [defining gross negligence].) The prosecutor argued that Appellant's silence toward the Nissan occupants was "particularly offensive," demonstrating that he did not "regret" his actions, that he showed no compassion when he sought to leave the scene, but instead was "obsessed" with "saving his own skin." (11RT 1905-06.) This argument not only punished Appellant's silence but was the type of impermissible bad character argument that this Court has elsewhere condemned as highly prejudicial. (See People v. Alverson (1964) 60 Cal.2d 803, 810 ["the guilt of a defendant of a particularly charged offense cannot be proved by evidence of general bad character. . "]; Evid. Code, § 1101.) In short, the prosecutor argued that Appellant's silence proved (in a way that the admissible evidence could not) that Appellant was the sort of heartless monster who did not "care" about a dead child or her mother and demonstrated "indifference" to how his actions affected others, thus improperly filling an evidentiary gap in her case on the critical element of

gross negligence.

The prosecutor coupled this highly prejudicial argument about Appellant's silence with prejudicial, unconstitutional arguments suggesting that there was "absolutely no evidence that the defendant had his headlights on" (RT 1901-02), when she knew that numerous sources had confirmed that the headlights were indeed on. (3CT 849-850; 4RT 601-602; 5RT 924-925; Habeas Exhibits, B, C, Exhibit D; Exhibit E, Photo CK-08.) Again, the prosecutor used improper argument to fill a critical evidentiary gap in the state's case—the fact that Wong entered the intersection without seeing Appellant's vehicle, even though his vehicle was visible for at least 17 seconds-a clear violation of Appellant's right-of-way. (See, e.g., Miller v. Pate (1966) 386 U.S. 1, 6-7 [argument prosecutor knew to be false based upon unadmitted evidence violated federal constitution]; People v. Castain (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 138, 146 ["obvious misconduct"].) Finally, the prosecutor committed additional misconduct with her transparent appeal to the jury's natural sympathy for Wong, arguing that the jury should convict Appellant even if the state had not proven he "was a substantial factor in this collision" (11RT 1906), because Wong had lost her child and thus had paid the "ultimate price." (See, e.g., People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 829-830 [federal constitutional misconduct for "prosecutor . . . to absolve the prosecution from its prima facie obligation to overcome reasonable

doubt on all elements"]; *People v. Fields* (1983) 35 Cal.3d 329, 362 [misconduct to urge jury to convict out of sympathy for victim].) It is difficult to conceive of any arguments that would be more prejudicial than these.

These palpably prejudicial arguments cannot be swept under the rug of harmless error, as the state seeks to do here. "[C]losing argument matters; statements from the prosecutor matter a great deal." (*United States v. Kojayan* (9th Cir. 1993) 8 F.3d 1315, 1323-24.) By emphasizing the improper testimony in closing argument, "the prosecutor herself destroyed any chance that the jury forgot about the error or viewed it as an unimportant, isolated incident." (*United States v. Combs* (9th Cir. 2004) 379 F.3d 564, 574.)

The state's reliance on *United States v. Lopez* (9th Cir. 2007) 500

F.3d 840, 845-846 (ROB 47-50) is wholly misplaced. That case involved a *Doyle* error because the defendant *testified* and was *impeached* by his prior silence, both before and after *Miranda* warnings. Impeachment with the pre-*Miranda* silence was proper under *Jenkins v. Anderson* (1980) 447 U.S. 231, 238 because the defendant had "cast aside his cloak of silence" by testifying, even if admission of the post-*Miranda* silence was *Doyle* error. The Court found the evidence of guilt overwhelming, the pre-*Miranda* silence highly probative, and the additional evidence of post-*Miranda*

silence not prejudicial because it was not emphasized to the jury. (*Lopez*, 500 F.3d at pp. 845-846.) By contrast, the Ninth Circuit reached the opposition conclusion in a case in which a defendant was impeached with both his pre- and post-*Miranda* silence, where the evidence was "far from overwhelming." (*United States v. Negrete-Gonzales* (9th Cir. 1992) 966 F.2d 1277, 1280-81.)

Because *Lopez* concerned impeachment, it is inapposite here, where Appellant did not cast aside his cloak of silence, and he had the constitutional right to remain silent in a consensual encounter with police or during any temporary detention. (*See Royer*, 460 U.S. at pp. 497-498; *Berkemer*, 468 U.S. at p. 439.) Additionally, because the defendant testified in *Lopez*, the Court found his failure to initially tell anyone that he came to the border under duress was highly relevant. Yet, as the state *now* concedes, Appellant's pre-*Miranda* silence had "weak" probative value, and the inference of consciousness of guilt from silence, was "tangential" and "marginal[]." (ROB 50, 52.)

Further, contrary to the Attorney General's argument that the improper comments on post-arrest silence were harmless because they were cumulative to properly admitted silence before arrest (ROB 47-50), there was no period of time in this case, when Appellant's silence could be properly admitted against him. The prosecutor only asked about

Appellant's contacts with *police*, at a time when the prosecutor argued it was unreasonable to believe Appellant was free to leave. The entire encounter fits within the "accusatory phase," as defined by this Court in *Banks*. (*In re Banks* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 337, 325.)

Moreover, the Attorney General now argues that the evidence was essentially irrelevant. (ROB 50, 52.) Thus, even if the constitution did not prohibit its admission, the Evidence Code did because of its "significant potential for prejudice." (*United States v. Hale* (1975) 422 U.S. 171, 180-181; *see* Evid. Code, §§ 352, 1101; *see also* Evid. Code, § 913 [prohibiting comment upon exercise of a privilege]; ROB 37, fn. 10 [conceding that silence is excludable under Evid. Code, § 352].) Any postarrest silence cannot be deemed harmless on the basis that it was cumulative to allegedly admissible evidence of pre-arrest silence, where the pre-arrest silence was itself admitted in violation of the Constitution¹⁵ and the Evidence Code.

Lopez is further distinguishable, because the prosecutor's arguments in that case did not focus on the post-arrest period. (Lopez, 500 F.3d at pp.

Even if the "accusatory stage" was not reached when police told Appellant he could not leave, most courts extend *Griffin*'s penalty analysis to pre-custody silence. (*See Coppola v. Powell* (1st Cir. 1989) 878 F.2d 1562, 1567-68; *Combs v. Coyle* (6th Cir. 2000) 205 F.3d 269, 280-283; *United States v. Burson* (10th Cir. 1991) 952 F.2d 1196, 1201.)

845-846.) Here, by contrast, the prosecutor repeatedly elicited evidence about Appellant's failure to inquire about the occupants of the other vehicle over the *entire* evening (3RT 423-424, 4RT 706-707), and argued that it was "particularly offensive" that Appellant "never, ever asked" about the occupants of the other car; "[n]ot once. Do you know how many officers that he had contact with that evening? Not a single one said that, hey, the defendant asked me how those people were doing." (11RT 1905-06.) The clear impact of the prosecutor's prejudicial argument was not remotely limited to the initial hour after the collision.

Finally, in contrast to *Lopez*, the evidence of Appellant's guilt here was "far from overwhelming" as it was in *Negrete-Gonzales*. Thus, *Negrete-Gonzalez* is more on point; the error was not harmless and the convictions must be reversed. (*Negrete-Gonzales*, 966 F.2d at pp. 1280-81; *see also United States v. Baker* (9th Cir.1993) 999 F.2d 412, 416.)

Moreover, the state is *particularly* wrong to argue that the evidence of pre-arrest silence is weak compared to the *other* "specific examples identified by the prosecutor as showing consciousness of guilt, that preceded the reference to his failure to inquire" about the other car's occupants. (ROB 50, fn.12, citing 11RT 1904-06.) These "specific examples" of other evidence allegedly demonstrating consciousness of guilt are the prosecutor's *other instances of misconduct*, where the prosecutor

improperly penalized Appellant's constitutionally protected invocations and inquiries regarding his Fourth Amendment rights, in violation of his federal constitutional rights, as described above. (11RT 1904-06.)

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